
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ADDENDUM 2 

TO 
REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

COMPUTERIZED MAINTENANCE, ASSET MANAGEMENT, AND WORK ORDER 

MANAGEMENT SOFTWARE 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

BRUNSWICK COUNTY PUBLIC UTILTIES 

BRUNSWICK COUNTY, NC 
 

 

 



 Page 2 

Brunswick County Public Utilities 
ADDENDUM 2 TO THE REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS 

COMPUTERIZED MAINTENANCE, ASSET MANAGEMENT, & WORK ORDER MANANGEMENT SOFTWARE 
 

 

The first section below contains the questions and answers taken from the Pre-Proposal Conferenced on 

August 10, 2017.  The questions will be in BLACK, the answers will be shown in BLUE and any revisions 

to answers will be shown in RED. 

 

The second section below contains the questions received by email as Request for Information (RFI).  The 

questions will be in BLACK and the answers will be shown in BLUE. 

 

 

Section 1 – Pre-Proposal Conference Questions & Answers 

 

You mentioned that CIS will continued to be used as ongoing software. Briefly describe the future of other 

products as far as current software goes and what type of longevity you expect out of those.  – CIS & ESRI 

will not go away, we need those integrations.  AutoCAD is typically used independently for minor 

projects.  SCADA will not go away – it is our connection to our facilities.  We understand that an 

integration with SCADA may help with asset management or preventative maintenance.  WASP barcode 

regarding inventory control has been used by our warehouse personnel.  They like the scanning capability 

to easily check inventory in and out, but we are interested in receiving information on your software or 

implementation for inventory modules or workflows.  For most of the software referenced, it will depend 

on what the solution is and if the solution can cover these areas adequately, then we can do away with the 

need for something separate.  If the solution doesn’t do a good job or if there is some preference for what 

we are using now, we may continue to utilize those other systems.  Between the water and wastewater 

system plants, there are approximately 6 or 7,000 pieces of equipment accounted for in maintenance 

software (Hach JOB Cal Plus).  We don’t want to have to gather all that data again.  If it could all be put 

together in one solution, we would support consolidation 

Regarding the data just referenced. In terms of bringing it forward to a new system.  Sounds like it may be 

existing in a couple of different systems. What is the confidence level in the quality of the data that will be 

moving to the new software?  Are there some assets in there that are active that have since retired? – The 

information in those software is pretty good information.  There is not a tremendous amount on our 

preventative maintenance software.  There are just a couple of divisions using it and keep up the data 

Regarding the phasing mentioned. Is there a particular type of phasing you have in mind or would you like 

us to suggest once we get into the project? – We are open to suggestions on that, but the primary item we 

need to work on first is our work order software and how to go about phasing that.  We do believe this 

needs to be phased.  We will rely on your expertise to come up with methods.  When talking with different 

vendors, we knew the work order software would be the initial part we need to implement, but we didn’t 

want to say we have 115 users and everybody was going to start using work orders.  The idea of phasing 

was starting with a work group, working out the kinks and then being able to implement work orders in 

other groups or processes 

Migration of existing data from current system. Is it going to be a fresh start or are you wanting to migrate 
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the data over? – The simplest way would be to migrate it over.  We understand migration of data is not 

always easy - they say garbage in is garbage out.  Our data format may not work well.  It is something we 

will have to look at.  The CIS database is SQL.  We think the data will be compatible, but it will be a 

matter of mapping it out.  Most of the data is in our CIS database.  It is hand keyed into a proprietary 

software (Brunswick County Public Utilities Work Order Software) that is a SQL database that resides at 

the County Complex, which is a remote location to our facility.  Since the data is in two different 

locations, we may select one of those databases and migrate that information 

Current work flow for work orders - are you using tablets or computers in the field at all? – It is all paper 

and pen in the field.  It currently works by CIS inputting work order information into their system, the 

Utilities dispatchers log into CIS looking for any new work orders generated since their last query.  They 

manually key that information into the proprietary work order software and print out a hard copy for 

distribution to the foreman.  The foreman pass along the work orders to the field crews.  It is paper, it gets 

lost, there are not always clear notes and it is a tracking issue.  With two dispatchers, we not only have 

duplication of work for them keying the data, but the field crews often receive two and three copies of 

work orders for the same request.  Conclusion – when it gets to the field personnel, it is entirely paper 

Is the structure/type of information on paper pretty solid, would you like to continued that? – NO, we are 

looking for modernization and improvement.  We need to look at our work flows and make sure those 

forms make sense.  Moving forward we anticipate not using the forms we have.  We think we would be 

better off using a standard form that the solution provides or the vendors may possess 

As far as a mobile solution do we have a preference as to how field staff are accessing the software?  An 

App, an externalized URL or would they be using a VPN to get back into the network? – That would be 

application dependent.  We are open to all three based on what the solution offers 

Do you have good cell service in the county or are you looking for an offline solution as well for the 

mobile component?  – We have service in most areas, but there are times that they will have to work 

offline.  It would be okay for crews to wait until they get into an area that has service and have the 

information download at that time 

With regards to the hosted environment, do you have a preference as to whether the hosted environment is 

on premise or being provided by the chosen vendor? – Either way and may prefer to have it hosted by the 

vendor.  We reviewed with our Computer Services department that most of the different software vendors 

referred to Amazon as the host they use.  Computer Services mentioned there is also Azure that meets 

certain security requirements or preferences by our police department.  We may not need their level of 

security, but we do have data that is for internal use only and we need security measures to ensure it is not 

available to the public.  We would be inclined to looking at services that minimize any additional man-

power or hardware needs here at our facility 

You are currently using the WASP for inventory control and bar coding? – It does maintain our inventory.  

We are able to pull CSV files to generate reports 

As part of the CMMS or work order implementation, are you considering replacing that functionality with 
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the inventory management component of the CMMS solution or would you be looking at that as an 

integration and staying with the WASP solution? – The warehouse manager would rather stay with WASP; 

however, we want to know what works well with the software solution.  If there is an inventory control 

module or something in the software proposal that will work well and has a barcode solution, we want 

information on what works best with the Solution.  – Section II, Project Details, Item #4.1.2.16, under 

Project Requirements, Page 12, “… BCPU is open to implementing business processes proposed by the 

successful Offeror if they are demonstrably more efficient and effective over current business 

processes…”   

Are you looking to bring over the work order history of the existing assets into the new system or just the 

assets themselves? – We do want to bring over assets from information we have in other systems.  As for 

the work order history, we are not sure bringing it over is a good solution.  The data is in SQL database for 

the CIS and the proprietary software (Brunswick County Public Utilities Work Order Software), but we 

are not sure it is necessary to have legacy data in our new software.  There would be a minimal amount of 

work order history associated with an asset.  Most of the work orders that we want to keep information on, 

are customer driven work orders that reside in our CIS database 

Is it your plan going forward to continue using the CIS database for meter related and water service related 

work orders?  – No, not for our end.  Work orders will continue to be created by our Customer Service 

department – in CIS Infinity.  They are separate from the Utilities department and will not stop using CIS 

software.  When they get a call from a customer or have a new service, they will create a work order on 

their side and that is the reason for the section of the RFP where we requested that data be brought over 

from CIS using a time/date stamp to be pushed into our new solution 

Of all of your existing systems including CIS Infinity and others that may need to be integrated with the 

new solution, do you have any upgrades looming for any of your other major systems that may be planned 

to happen in parallel with this work order implementation? – As noted in the RFP, page 7, ArcGIS, we are 

currently running on 10.2.2.  The plan is to update.  We have been talking to our database administrator, an 

outside vendor, when trying to implement field data collection.  This has not been implemented and it has 

been suggested we get on the same platform as our County GIS (County GIS is separate), which is on 

10.4.1 and we would like to upgrade to get on at least the same platform.  Computer Services has proposed 

creating a virtual server at the County site for our GIS database.  As for CIS, we are mid-upgrade.  Sensus 

is used for our meter reading.  That software is in the process of becoming software as a service.  We are 

still using old version and new, which we hope to be complete in the next few weeks.  It integrates easily 

with other software 

Is your Sensus system integrated with CIS? – Yes 

On the current GIS setup do you have ArcGIS Server installed now, the server product, not the desktop? – 

Yes.  Since the pre-proposal conference, it has been clarified that we DO NOT have ArcGIS Server 

product installed locally; however, County GIS is through an ESRI ELA (enterprise license agreement) 

and ArcGIS Server is used for the Web site.  It is anticipated that with the upgrade to a newer version, 

10.4x or 10.5x, and utilization of a virtual server at the County offices, we would be able to publish 



 Page 5 

Brunswick County Public Utilities 
ADDENDUM 2 TO THE REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS 

COMPUTERIZED MAINTENANCE, ASSET MANAGEMENT, & WORK ORDER MANANGEMENT SOFTWARE 
 

 

services from their ArcGIS Server 

You have ArcGIS Server on v 10.2 now and will we be upgrading to v 10.4.1? – Yes.  Since the pre-

proposal conference, it has been clarified that we DO NOT have ArcGIS Server product installed locally; 

however, County GIS is through an ESRI ELA (enterprise license agreement) and ArcGIS Server is used 

for the Web site.  They are currently running 10.4.1 

Is that accessible over the internet so that you can hit services when you are not on your local network? – 

We do not have experience running services.  We run everything here locally.  We work on file 

geodatabases, the field crews are not running any applications or using any services.  They are all using 

geodatabases on laptops.  We want it to work so that field crews can use a handheld device, an iPad or 

their phone, to pull a service to see mapping in areas they have work assigned without needing two devices 

– a laptop for the mapping and a handheld device to complete their work orders 

Do you have good cellular connectivity throughout the county or is it hit-or-miss? – It is mostly good.  

There are a few areas that are weak.  Our building inspections department currently uses ArcGIS as a 

mapping tool for their inspections.  That has been very successful so far 

 

 

Section 2 – RFI Questions & Answers 

 

Section II Project Details, Item #2 CIS Infinity 3.1:  Can you please detail the integration requirements for 

CIS Infinity?  – Section II, Project Details, Item #4, Services Required, Page 8.  Through the integration, 

we need the noted CIS SQL data to be brought into the new Solution’s work order software to generate 

service requests or work orders that will be tied to assets.  Upon updates to the service request or work 

order, we need the noted data to be pushed back into CIS 

4.1.2.8 . The successful Offeror will configure the solution to generate all reports presently being 

generated by BCPU legacy asset and work order systems and reports recognized as industry standards, 

through a versatile, robust, and user friendly query and reporting tool. Would you please provide a list of 

the current reports and the information they provide? – Upon review of processes, we have found that 

reports are not generated due to the varying software applications used and their inconsistent use.  We 

want the ability to create standard reports 

4.1.2.9. This provision states that the successful Offeror shall provide either direct end-user training or use 

a train-the-trainer approach. Does BCPU have a preference between these two options, and do you have 

identified on-staff trainers? – We did anticipate having key staff trained by the integrator and being able to 

take over training from there.  We do not have a complete list of on-staff trainers identified, as we were not 

sure how the implementation would be phased.  However, we have hired a Logistics & Asset Management 

Coordinator, who will be the Public Utilities’ system administrator that will be able to perform on-going 

training as a refresher or for new employees after the implementation is complete 
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What is BCPU’s budget for this project? – $350,000 has been allocated for software and hardware in this 

year’s budget and includes items that may not be in this RFP 

The proposed schedule indicates a 5 ½ month implementation timeline. How did BCPU decide on this 

timeline, and will BCPU consider extended timelines if the proposer can demonstrate its benefit to BCPU? 

– Yes, we will evaluate proposals submitted, including their proposed timelines.  Also, Section I, Proposal 

Instructions, Item #4, Basis of Award, Page 3, add:  “10.  Offerors proposed timeline.  If different from the 

Proposed Schedule (Item #5 below), it should have supporting documentation to demonstrate the need for 

variance.” 

Would the County consider a hosted solution (SaaS), or do you require the system to be on-premises? – 

Yes.  Section II, Project Details, Item #3, I.T. Network, Page 8, “… BCPU prefers that the Solution be in a 

hosted environment such as Amazon or Microsoft Azure…”  Also, as noted in the Pre-Proposal Conference, we 

would be inclined to looking at services that minimize any additional man-power or hardware needs here at our 

facility 

Does the County envision having a mobile component to the solution, or do you anticipate accessing the 

full system for all work. There is a requirement to eliminate paper recording of information, which would 

suggest that field crews would need access at all times. – Yes.   Section II, Project Details, Item #, Services 

Required, Page 9, “…Route work orders to the field crews on iOS and Android mobile devices…” 

4.1.2.10 requires migration of all historic data into the new system. Please provide insight into how much 

data will need to be migrated. How many records are in the current system? –  Hach Job Cal currently has 

??? .  Wasp Barcode Technologies currently has 2,400 records.  Brunswick County Public Utilities Work Order 

Software currently has 25,300 work orders that have been entered since August 2014 

Do you have an editable version of the Pricing Information Form (Appendix A  found in the RFP) that 

could be made available to the vendors? – No 

When we were first working on some ballpark numbers we assumed that the County had enough available 

esri licenses currently to be used for the system. Is this still the case or will we need to include cost for Esri 

licenses purchased through Cartegraph? – The County has sufficient licensing for ArcGIS and ArcGIS for 

Server 

The RFP indicates that the County will want to bring asset information from legacy systems. Is all of the 

data you are looking to bring forward currently in GIS? – No, the “horizontal” assets are in our GIS.  There 

are approximately 1,000 “facility” or “vertical” assets and their related Preventative Maintenance (PMs) 

work orders maintained in the Hach JOB Cal software that will need to be brought into our asset 

management software.  There are an estimated additional 5 to 6,000 facility assets.  Some data is 

maintained in Excel spreadsheets 

In the pricing information form, there is a Interfacing Costs section. Could you explain or elaborate on 

this? – This Cost section was provided as an area to show separate costs for API’s (if not included with the 

Solution’s core license) with the software we require integration, ESRI & CIS, see Section II, Project 
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Details, Item #4, Services Required, Page 7.  It also provides for the proposal of additional integrations, see 

Section II, Project Details, Item #4.1.3.6, Page 13 

Related to Sections 8.1, 9.3, 9.4, 9.8. 9.9 and 10.   For the software side, we have standard COTS License 

Agreement.   There are some legal terms in these sections that are not consistent with our industry standard 

COTS software licensing.   It is assumed that you will be able to accept the standard licensing terms for 

software.  A copy of the Standard agreements will be provided as part of our response for your review and 

acceptance.   Any discrepancies can be evaluated together in negotiations.   Is this acceptable? –  Yes, 

discrepancies can be evaluated.  It was not our intent to release an RFP that would limit potential software 

vendors from proposing a solution 

In Project Details – 4. Services Required (page 8), “BCPU has approximately 115 employees, of which 

approximately 75 are anticipated as users requiring login access.”  It is stated that 75 employees need 

access but in the pricing information form you have a quantity of 115, which is the correct number of 

mobile users?  Of the 115 employees, how many dispatch users do you anticipate? –  That would be 

application dependent based on the definition of user.  BCPU has over 115 employees.  We do not 

anticipate every employee will require login access or utilizing desktop &/or mobile applications – we 

expect 75 employees having login access.  There may be 45 concurrent users (desktop and mobile) 

In Project Details – 4. Services Required (page 8), minimum system requirements for Service Requests 

and/or Work Orders; “Automatically extract new work orders hourly based on creation time/date stamp”.  

‘Extract new work orders’, does this mean that our Solution (FMP360) needs to proactively ‘look’ in to 

CIS Infinity database for new work orders OR is CIS Infinity provide our solution every hour new work 

orders which needs to be processed by our solution? –  It was planned that CIS would provide a file with 

any new work orders 

In Project Details – 4. Services Required (page 9), under “Preventive Maintenance” it stated, “Set up PM 

by various criteria such as by date, hours, readings, or miles.”  Is this meant to be used for creating 

recurring PM work orders based on the various criteria? –  Yes 

In Project Details – 4. Services Required (page 9), under “Inventory/Parts” its stated, “Store manufacturer 

and vendor history.”  Please explain this in more details.  In which scenario this information is used?  

Please explain the use case for this requirement. –  This is a cumulative list of manufacturers (i.e., Mueller, 

Clow, etc.) and vendors (i.e., Lowes Home Improvement, Ace Hardware, etc.) showing products used and 

where they have been purchased for future reference and query.  It was anticipated that as new vendors 

&/or manufacturers are entered into the inventory section of the Solution, their information would be 

saved and not have to be re-entered 

In Project Requirements – 4.1.2.11 (bullet 2, page 12), “Meets the acceptance criteria for that deliverable, 

including any identified policies, functional or nonfunctional requirements, or industry standards.”  Where 

can we find the acceptance criteria? –  Reference Project Requirements, Item 4.1.2, the proposed Solution 

should meet industry standards, provide requirements as listed in this RFP, and will be in the contract 

agreement 
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Other than the items listed in Section 3 – PROPOSAL DOCUMENTS, what other elements require a 

response?  Specifically, are we required to address and respond to each of the bullets listed in II – 

PROJECT DETAILS, Section 4 – “Services Required?”  Likewise, are we required to address and respond 

to each item in 4.1.1 – Project Goals, 4.1.2, Project Requirements; and 4.1.3 – Offeror’s Responsibilities?  

Or are these merely meant to provide a framework for the content provided in our overall response?  If an 

answer to each item is required, where would you like these placed in our response?  Does BCPU desire 

these items be addressed under one of the sections included in the PROPOSAL DOCUMENTS section? –  

We do not require a response to each bullet or entry.  The RFP is a “framework” of information provided 

as a guide in the development of a proposal.  If Offerors choose to address each point for clarification or 

justification of how they have meet certain criteria, this information can be included with their submittals 

of PROPOSAL DOCUMENTS 

Section 4.1.2.8 – As it pertains to the solution’s required reporting capabilities, can you provide a list of 

and examples of the specific reports required?  Are we required to provide the equivalent of each 

individual report capable of being run today, or just the ones that are regularly used? –  Upon review of 

processes, we have found that reports are not generated due to the varying software applications used and 

their inconsistent use.  We want the ability to create standard reports 

Section 4.1.2.10 – Concerning data migration, is the data required for migration limited to just assets and 

work orders?  If not, what other historic data is required? – If there is an inventory control module or 

component to the Solution implemented, Wasp Barcode Technologies is a SQL database with 

approximately 2,400 records 

Concerning the CIS Infinity integration – Do you have an API available, or will we need to touch the 

database directly?  Does the County have resources that will be made available at no charge during the 

project who know this system?  Will there be a test environment available at no charge for this system? –  

We do not have an API with CIS Infinity.  The database will not be queried directly.  Integration will be by 

exchange of flat files.  The County does have personnel on-site with CIS knowledge that will work closely 

with the Logistics & Asset Management Coordinator, who will be the BCPU system administrator.  

Finance/Customer Service does have a Test CIS system 

On what media do you want the electronic copy of the proposal (e.g. USB flash drive)? –  A USB flash 

drive would be preferable 

Do you currently possess an asset register?  If so, is it stored in your GIS, and can you provide information 

on what is populated and the schema? –  No, we do not currently have a consolidated asset registry.  The 

“horizontal” assets are in our GIS.  These include water and sewer mains, valves, hydrants, pumps, lift 

stations, and plants, along with their respective attribute data.  Schema will be made available for the 

selected Solution.  There are approximately 1,000 “facility” or “vertical” assets and their related 

Preventative Maintenance (PMs) work orders maintained in the Hach JOB Cal software.  There are an 

estimated additional 5 to 6,000 facility assets.  Some data is maintained in Excel spreadsheets 

Do you currently have an installation of ESRI ArcGIS Server?  If so, is it internet accessible?  If not, do 

you have a standard or advanced license of ArcGIS Server available? –  We DO NOT have ArcGIS for 
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Server product installed locally; however, the County’s GIS has sufficient licensing for ArcGIS and 

ArcGIS for Server, which is used for the County Web site.  They are currently running ArcGIS for Server 

Advanced Enterprise, version 10.4.1.  The site is internet accessible 

In II.2, you mention desirable data migrations from several systems/applications.  Are these one-time or 

periodic data migrations?  Does BCPU wish to replace most of these current systems/applications with our 

solution? –  Data migrations will be a one-time push of data into the Solution.  If the Solution has 

inventory control or there is a module available that works well and has a barcode solution, we would be 

inclined to looking at services that minimize any additional man-power, software, or hardware needs here 

at our facility.  Section II, Project Details, Item #4.1.2.16, under Project Requirements, Page 12, “… 

BCPU is open to implementing business processes proposed by the successful Offeror if they are 

demonstrably more efficient and effective over current business processes…”  We anticipate keeping 

Sensus Analytics and SCADA; however, we may not be familiar with each software’s capabilities until 

proposals are reviewed 

Do you currently possess an Amazon Web Services or Microsoft Azure cloud subscription you want the 

Solution hosted in?  If not, do you prefer direct pass-through of cloud infrastructure costs, or a 

standardized cost each month? –  The County does have both Microsoft Azure Premium Government 

subscription and Amazon Web Services 

Will you accept proposals offering BCPU to choose the option of an on-premise VM, or a cloud-hosted 

implementation, with two different pricing structures? –  Yes 

In II.4 – Workflow Management- the term “document packages” is used.  Can you clarify if these are 

printed documents or something else? –  It was not intended to be a printed document.  The term, 

“document packages”, may better be described as business rules or workflows for a particular process that 

includes the service request/work order, maps, special instructions, etc. 

In the pricing information sheet, do the interfacing costs relate ONLY to interfacing with ESRI and CIS 

Infinity as the enterprise applications?  What systems/applications should be included in the data migration 

costs? –  The Cost section is an area to show separate costs for integration or API’s (if not included with 

the Solution’s core license) with the software we require integration, ESRI & CIS, see Section II, Project 

Details, Item #4, Services Required, Page 7.  Data migration would be from the Hach Job Cal, various 

Excel spreadsheets, and Wasp Barcode Technologies if an inventory control system is implemented 

Are there historical records including work orders, service requests, inspections, tasks or other 

maintenance related records? –  There are approximately 1,000 “facility” or “vertical” assets and their 

related Preventative Maintenance (PMs) work orders maintained in the Hach JOB Cal software that will 

need to be brought into our asset management software.  CIS Infinity and Brunswick County Public 

Utilities Work Order Software would have minimal work order history associated with an asset 

Is the GIS data for all of the assets that will be covered existing and complete? –  No, the “horizontal” 

assets are in our GIS.  There are approximately 1,000 “facility” or “vertical” assets and their related 
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Preventative Maintenance (PMs) work orders maintained in the Hach JOB Cal software.  There are an 

estimated additional 5 to 6,000 facility assets.  Some data is maintained in Excel spreadsheets 

Does the county have CCTV and if so, what are you using? –  BCPU does have a VIMAX Metrotech 

VCam-5, used for minor inspections and contracts out services for annual inspections 

Does the county have the O&M for each plant? –  Hach JOB Cal software is used in three plants 

Would it be possible to give us some idea of a budget for this project, software and services?  We don’t 

want to waste each other’s time if we are so far apart that we see no way of coming together on price. –  

$350,000 has been allocated for software and hardware in this year’s budget and includes items that may 

not be in this RFP 

Our primary customer base is electric utilities in USA, Canada, Europe, Middle East and Australia.  We 

have over 50 customers varying in size from an electric co-op in North Dakota to the largest electric 

transmission utility in the USA.  The customers are a combination of investor-owned utilities, municipal-

owned utilities, co-ops and national government-owned utilities in Finland and Saudi Arabia.  Our first 

sale was in 2004.  So, does this disqualify us on this point or are we OK to proceed? –  Proposer will have 

to determine if they meet the minimum experience.  Each will be evaluated on merit 

We have experience interfacing and integrating with many systems including Maximo and SAP.  We have 

a whole product that we developed a few years ago that allows us to configure interfaces in a few hours to 

almost nothing.  Is this sufficient or must it be specifically with CIS and ESRI? –  At a minimum, there 

would need to be experience in integration with ESRI 

Of the 1,030 miles of water pipes and 570 miles of sewer pipes, to what level of detail or segmentation 

will assets be identified in the new proposed system?  That is, will a 2-mile run of pipe be one asset in the 

new system with all of the segments defined in ArcGIS or will each of the one city block segments be an 

asset in the new system? –  GIS assets include water and sewer mains, valves, hydrants, pumps, lift 

stations, and plants, along with their respective attribute data.  Each line segment is separate in ArcGIS as 

they may have different attribute data including, installation date, material, diameter, etc.  A line segment 

can range from just a few feet to several hundred feet; however, we have not broken out each stick of pipe 

to be a separate asset.  As we are not familiar with the various software Solutions that may be proposed, it 

was anticipated that an asset would be each ArcGIS feature and/or their related tables of assets 

Of the facilities shown in 1.2 above, approximately how many individual assets will be identified and 

maintained?  For example, in a pumping station will each motor, pump, control panel, etc. be individual 

assets?  What is the total for 1.2? –  We do not currently have a consolidated asset registry.  The 

“horizontal” assets are in our GIS.  These include water and sewer mains, valves, hydrants, pumps, lift 

stations, and plants, along with their respective attribute data.  There are approximately 1,000 “facility” or 

“vertical” assets in the Hach JOB Cal software.  There are an estimated additional 5 to 6,000 facility 

assets.  Some data is maintained in Excel spreadsheets 

The following is an asset breakdown of one Facility type, the 155 sewage pumping stations, noted in 1.2.  

This example does not include all other Facility types - industry standards or best practices should be 
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considered for an asset registry.  Of the 155 sewage pumping stations noted, there are twelve (12), 50 HP 

and above with buildings.  The remaining are 50 HP and below.  A 50 HP and above lift station would 

contain: drives, pumps, add-a-phase, wet wells, generators, automatic transfer switches (ATS), SCADA 

towers, control panels, fencing, and buildings including their HVAC systems.  A 50 HP and below lift 

station would contain:  control panel, pumps, generators, automatic transfer switches (ATS), SCADA, 

fencing, and wet wells 

What is the source(s) of the asset data?  What data bases or file systems types. –  The “horizontal” assets 

are in our GIS.  There are approximately 1,000 “facility” or “vertical” assets maintained in the Hach JOB 

Cal software.  There are an estimated additional 5 to 6,000 facility assets.  Some data is maintained in 

Excel spreadsheets 

How complete are the data?  Will a significant effort be required to identify all of the assets and their 

properties (nameplate data and other)? – Somewhat complete with the data in Hach JOB Cal and 

spreadsheets 

Will much field work be required to gather the required data?  If so, who will do it? –  Any field work 

required to gather data will be done by BCPU or its assigns 

Will all but these first two, CIS and ESRI, be replaced?  It doesn’t seem likely that your SCADA system or 

AutoCAD will be replaced by the proposed system.  Please clarify exactly which systems will be replaced 

and which require interfaces or some level of integration. –  Brunswick County Public Utilities Work 

Order Software and Hach JOB Cal Plus will be replaced with the Solution.  For most of the software 

referenced, it will depend on what the solution is and if the solution can cover these areas adequately, then 

we can do away with the need for something separate.  If the Solution has inventory control or there is a 

module available that will work well and has a barcode solution, we want information on what works best 

with the Solution.  If the Solution doesn’t do a good job or if there is some preference for what we are 

using now, we may continue to utilize those other systems.  We anticipate keeping Sensus Analytics and 

SCADA; however, we may not be familiar with each software’s capabilities until proposals are reviewed 

We have several questions regarding the above systems and integration (Section II, Project Details, Item 

#3, Current Systems, Page 7).  For all of the systems which require interfacing or integration, please give 

more details so that a reasonable estimate can be made.  What data need to flow in check directions?  What 

are the timings?  Is it a push or a pull?  What interface error reporting and correction capabilities are 

required?  Specifically describe the interfacing or integration with ArcGIS.  For example, when in the new 

system, from a work order is it expected with one click to bring up the ArcGIS mapping of the asset?  Will 

turn by turn instructions be provided by the new system or by ArcGIS? –  For CIS Infinity integration 

requirements see Section II, Project Details, Item #4, Services Required, Page 8.  Integration will be by 

exchange of flat files.  Error reporting should be logged daily and made available for query or email 

notification.  We should be able to manually run corrections or be able to contact support with a timely 

return of a resolution.  From product reviews, it has been anticipated that one click of an asset or work 

order would bring up ArcGIS mapping.  No, turn-by-turn directions will not be needed in ArcGIS 
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Is some sort of Internet connectivity available throughout the service area, either your network as 

described above or mobile LTE? –  We have service in most areas, but there are times that they will have 

to work offline 

If not, is mobile satellite a consideration or is an “offline” mode required? –  An offline mode would also 

need to be available with the Solution  

Of the 75 who need login access, how many do you estimate to be logged in and using the system at any 

point in time (concurrent users)? –  45 

Will Service Requests coming from CIS Infinity be only for customer requests or will SR’s be entered for 

work on station assets entered internally? –  Service requests and/or work orders will be received from CIS 

Infinity and created internally by BCPU staff in the office and the field 

Will the cost data gathered by the new system be exported into your accounting system?  If so please 

describe the expectation of that interface; timing, triggers, controls, etc. –  No, it has not been anticipated 

to integrate into the County’s Finance software 

Are these costs by Work Order? –  Yes, work order or service requests should show cumulative costs for 

labor, material, parts, equipment, vehicles, tools, etc. and have the ability to generate reporting of costs for 

multiple work orders/service requests or the individual items 

Please describe the source of cost data and how it may be calculated.  For example, will you assign a per 

hour cost to a vehicle and to tools, or is there some other way you want this done? –  That would be 

application dependent.  We will rely on the recommendation of the software implementers for guidance as 

to what they have found in their experience to be the best practice for their solution.  We anticipate 

inventory and materials costs will be reflective of actual costs from purchase orders or invoices.  We 

would like to have the option to use separate FEMA pricing on flagged work orders or projects 

For outside resources, the costs may not be exactly known until you receive an invoice.  Since this could 

be several weeks after the work is done, is it your expectation that the Work Order will be updated then?  

Should it be held open until then? –  That would be application dependent.  We anticipated that the 

Solution being proposed would have the ability to note work orders as “work complete” or “pending xxx” 

when work has been done, but additional information or steps are required, such as invoices or inspections 

Will the asset id be part of the data extracted from CIS Infinity or will it be gathered on site? –  No, CIS 

Infinity does not contain asset data.  That would be application dependent.  We anticipate a service request 

or work order being linked to or assigned to an asset by dispatch during initial routing, upon review by a 

supervisor or foreman, or in the field when work is completed 

Since CIS Infinity is being kept and it has an Inventory Management module, is it acceptable to interface 

to it for inventory management functions described above? –  No, CIS will not be used for inventory 

Please give details as to what the above mapping entails and how do you expect it to work.  This will have 

an impact on our estimates (Section II, Project Details, Item #4, Services Required, Page 9, “Map asset 

inspections using ArcGIS”). –  Mapping assets for a service request, work order or inspection using 
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ArcGIS was anticipated to use services created with the ESRI integration for users to visualize the location 

of pending work 

Is mapping also required for Preventative Maintenance? –  Yes 

Do you already have the KPI’s clearly defined and calculations finalized or will this be a start from scratch 

task and part of the project?  Is the Offeror required to define all of this? –  BCPU does not have key 

performance indicators (KPI’s) defined.  It was anticipated that the KPI’s would be determined by industry 

standards or best practices and these criteria be setup as part of the Solution with training for staff to be 

able to modify the KPI settings as needed 

Please explain what this means (Section II, Project Details, Item #4, Services Required, Page 10, “Map 

critical condition and performance indicators of assets”). –  During review of various software capabilities, 

some used heat maps in the GIS mapping to display areas of concern based on the KPI criteria.  It was 

anticipated that the KPI’s would be set for an asset type and the Solution would allow us to visualize 

where critical conditions exits or assist in the planning for PM 

How many reports is this?  Please classify by the number of simple, moderate and complex.  This will 

have an impact on the estimate. –  Upon review of processes, we have found that reports are not generated 

due to the varying software applications used and their inconsistent use.  We want the ability to create 

standard reports 

Data migration is often a significant consumer of time and resources and therefore a significant part of the 

cost.  In order to develop a reasonable estimate, we need somewhat detailed descriptions of your 

expectations and types, sources and volumes of data.  What are the data sources?  Is some hand-written 

that needs to be scanned or manually entered? –  We are not certain of the Hach Job Cal database.  

Brunswick County Public Utilities Work Order Software is a SQL database with approximately 25,300 

work orders.  Wasp Barcode Technologies is a SQL database with approximately 2,400 records.  We do 

not have hand-written documentation that will need to be scanned 

Can the historical data be easily associated with a specific asset? –  No, current Brunswick County Public 

Utilities Work Order Software has limited data associated with assets.  Most historical data is referenced to 

an address or general location 

What file formats or databases are they in? –  SQL, Excel 

How clean is the data and will significant scrubbing be required?  Clean, dirty or filthy? –  Dirty 

Will significant recoding of asset data be part of the project?  For example, if over the years, different 

coding systems (asset type, asset category, etc.) have been used, will this project encompass standardizing 

the coding to one scheme? –  We do not anticipate the need for recoding  

What is the volume of each data source to be migrated?  For example, 50,000 work orders over the past 20 

years? –  Wasp Barcode Technologies currently has 2,400 records.  Brunswick County Public Utilities 

Work Order Software currently has 25,300 work orders that have been entered since August 2014 

 


